Page 1 of 41

RECEIVED 07-07-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

# WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff- Respondent- Petitioner,

v.

Appeal No. 2018AP2419-CR

ANGEL MERCADO, Defendant- Appellant.

# ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

# **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

Esther Cohen Lee Attorney for Defendant- Appellant State Bar No. 1002354

11414 W. Park Place, Suite 202 Milwaukee, WI 532224

Cell: (608) 556-0200

#

2.	California v. Green, 399 U. S. 149, 90 S. Ct. 1930, 26 L. Ed. 2d 489 (1970)	

#### Page 6 of 41

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE – PROCEDURAL**

1. This action commenced on August 19, 2016 with the filing of a Criminal Complaint in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County. (Record 1, pp. 1-3; Supplemental Appendix, pp. SA1-SA3). It charged two counts of Sexual Assault of a Child in the first degree (sexual intercourse with a child under the age of 12), relating to NLG and LAG, a Class B felony, with a mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years. It also charged one count of Sexual Assault of a Child in the first degree (sexual contact with a child under the age of 12), relating to OEG, a Class B felony, with no mandatory minimum sentence. All three counts had a maximum sentence of 60 years. The initial appearance was held on August 20, 2016. (R67, pp. 1-10).

2. A Preliminary Hearing was held on August 26, 2016, after which the Court bound the defendant over for trial. (R68, pp. 1-15). An Information was filed on that date, charging the same three Counts that had been charged in the Criminal Complaint. (R6, pp. 1-2; Supp. App., pp. SA4- SA5). The defendant was arraigned on the Information on September 27, 2016 and entered a plea of not guilty. (R69, pp. 1-5).

3. On October 19, 2016, the state filed three Notices that it intended to offer into evidence of three video-recorded statements of the three young, female victims, OEG, age 7, LAG, age 5, and NLG, age 4. (R9, pp. 1-3; Supp. App., pp. SA6- SA8). On November 8, 2016, a hearing was held in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Conen, presiding, to determine the admissibility of the three video-recorded statements. (R71, pp. 1-28; App. pp. A174-A189). The Court reserved decision of the state's motion. In the end, the Court allowed the video-recorded statements and the transcripts of those statements to be received in evidence at the trial and shown to the jury.

4. On November 9, 2016, the jury trial commenced in this matter in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Conen, presiding. (R72, pp. 1-6; App. pp. A190-194). On November 10, 2016, the Court declared a mistrial in order to have the videorecorded statements of the three victims transcribed for the interpreters to use in interpreting them for the defendant.

The second jury trial began on January 23, 2017 in the Circuit Court of
 Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Conen, presiding. The state was represented by Michael
 C. Schindhelm, Assistant District Attorney. The defendant was represented by Ann T. Bowe.
 The defendant was assisted by Spanish interpreters throughout the trial.

6. During the trial, on January 23, 2017, a conference was held off the record. The Clerk noted in the CCAP account of the case that, after both sides had rested, the state had amended Counts #1 and #3 to "1<sup>st</sup> Degree Sexual Assault- Contact, §948.02(1)(e)." The Clerk also noted that the time frame under Count #2 was amended to read, "August 2, 2015 to August 2, 2016." (Supp. App. pp. SA9- SA10).

7. The next day, January 26, 2017, the jury rendered its three verdicts, finding the defendant guilty of all three Counts given to it for its consideration. (R31, pp. 1-3; Supp. App., pp. SA14-SA16).

8. On April 12, 2017, the defendant appeared in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Conen, presiding, for sentencing. (R81, pp. 1-46). The state was represented by Mr. Schindhelm and the defendant was represented by Ms. Bowe. At that time, the Court sentenced the defendant as follows:

> a. 13 years each for his convictions under Counts 1 and 3, Sexual Assault of a Child in the first degree (sexual contact of a child less than 12 years old), relating to NLG and OEG, with 10 years of initial confinement and 3 years of extended supervision for each count;

b. 32 years for his conviction under Count 2, Sexual Assault of a Child in the first degree (sexual intercourse of a child less than 12 years old), relating to LAG, with 25 years of initial confinement and 7 years of extended supervision;

c. with all of the sentences to run concurrently. (R81, pp. 41-42).

9. A Written Explanation of Determinate Sentence was filed on April 12, 2017.
(R35, p. 1; Supp. App. SA17). A Judgment of Conviction was filed on April 12, 2017. (R37, pp. 1-2; Supp. App. SA18- SA19).

10. On April 26, 2017, a Notice of Intent to pursue Postconviction Relief was filed on behalf of the defendant. (R39, p. 1). On May 30, 2017, an Order Appointing Counsel was issued, appointing Esther Cohen Lee to represent the defendant on appeal.

11. On August 3, 2018, a Postconviction Motion was filed in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County on behalf of the defendant, requesting that his convictions be vacated and a new trial ordered. (R49, pp. 1-18; App. pp. 156-173). On November 9, 2018, the state filed a Response to the Postconviction Motion. (R58, pp. 1-8; App. pp. 148-155). A Reply to that Response was filed on behalf of the defendant on December 4, 2018. (R62, pp. 1-11).

12. On December 13, 2018, a Decision denying the Postconviction Motion was filed by the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Jeffrey A. Conen, presiding. (R64, pp. 1-5; App. pp. A143- A147). A Notice of Appeal was filed on December 18, 2018. (R65, pp. 1-2). An Order Appointing Counsel was issued on December 21, 2018, assigning Esther Cohen Lee as counsel to represent the defendant in the Court of Appeals.

13. On February 26, 2019, the Appellant's Brief and Appendix was filed on behalf of the defendant in the Court of Appeals, District I. The Respondent's Brief was filed by the state on May 14, 2019. A Reply Brief was filed on behalf of the defendant on May 29, 2019. On February 4, 2020, the majority of the Court of Appeals, District I, issued a Decision reversing the

Judgment and Order, and remanding the case to the Circuit Court. (App. pp. A101-A122). A dissent was also issued. (App. pp. A123- A142).

14. On March 5, 2020, the state filed a Petition for Review in the Supreme Court of Wisconsin. A Response to the Petition was filed on behalf of the defendant on March 17, 2020. The Supreme Court issued an Order on May 19, 2020, granting the Petition for Review. On June 12, 2020, an Order Appointing Counsel was issued, appointing Esther Cohen Lee to represent the defendant in the Supreme Court. (Supp. App., SA20).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE- FACTUAL**

#### A. The allegations of the three young sisters and the reporting of these allegations.

C.C., age 40, was the mother of five children: a son, age 18, and four daughters, JG, age 14, OEG, age 8, LAG age 5, and NLG, age 4. From June- August, 2016, she said, she lived at 1558 S. 24<sup>th</sup> Street, Apartment 5, in Milwaukee. She lived there with her four daughters and the defendant. The defendant was then 59 years old (date of birth 2/17/57). Her daughters were then the following ages: JG, age 13, OEG, age 7 (date of birth 1/23/09), LAG, age 4-5 (date of birth 8/2/11), and NLG, age 3-4 (date of birth 7/25/12). (Trial Transcript, Jan. 24, 2017, a.m., R77, p. 14).

C.C. said that when she lived with the defendant, she was his caretaker, helping him with his meds, appointments, phone calls, showers, and household duties. (R77, p. 14). The apartment in which they lived was the defendant's one bedroom apartment, which had a basement with steps that led down from the apartment. (R77, p. 16).

On August 11, 2016, C.C. drove to the Dollar Store with NLG, the youngest child. On the way back from the store, C.C. was playing a song on the radio from a group known as "Silk" and the song was called "Freak Me". (R77, p. 23). C.C. began singing along with this song, and she began singing, "I want to lick you up and down." (R77, p. 24). All of a sudden, NLG piped up and said, "Yes, that's what he does." C.C. asked her to repeat what she had said and NLG once again said the same thing. C.C. asked her, "Who?" and NLG said, "Viejo", who she identified as being the defendant. (Viejo is Spanish for "old man".) R77, p. 24).

When they got home, C.C. had NLG remain on the porch and she went inside to find LAG, the second oldest daughter. C.C. then asked LAG, "Has anybody been touching you? And she answered, "Yes." CC. asked her, "Who, Viego?" and she answered, "Yes." (R77, p. 26).

C.C. continued to wait on the porch for OEG, the second oldest daughter, who had been with the defendant. OEG arrived home at 7:30-8:00 p.m. C.C. then asked OEG, "Has he been touching you?" and she answered "Yes, he does." (R77, p. 31). C.C. asked her, "When was the last time he touched you?" and she answered, "The day before yesterday." (R77, p. 31). That very day, C.C. took them to the E.R. at the Aurora Sinai Medical Center in Milwaukee.

Susan Kanack, a registered nurse at the Aurora Sinai Medical Center, testified that she had examined all three girls on August 11, 2016. She said that she examined each girl individually. (TT Jan. 25, 2017, a.m., R78, p. 43). The medical records of all three girls were received in evidence at the trial. (Trial Exhibits, 13, 14, and 15). (R78, p. 45). Ms. Kanack testified that, according to these medical records, she had asked NLG why she was there and that NLG had answered that, "Viejo keeps licking me on my butt, I hate him." (R78, p. 49). Upon examining NLG, Ms. Lanack said, she did not find any injuries or anything "abnormal". (R78, p. 51).

When she was examining LAG, Ms. Kanack said, the records showed that she had asked her why she was there and LAG answered, "To see if I'm okay. Viejo has been touching me everywhere." (R78, p. 53). There were also no injuries noted on LAG, she said. (R78, p. 56).

Finally, when she was examining OEG, Ms. Kanack, the records showed that she had asked her "why are you here today?" She said that the records showed that she asked her :why are you here today?" She said that OEG answered, "Viejo has been touching me in my private parts. His real name is Angel." (R78, p. 54). When Ms. Kanack asked her "what does he touch you with?", she answered, "his hands, he touched me yesterday." (R78, p. 55). Again, she said, there were no injuries noted on OEG. (R78, p. 56).

#### **B.** The forensic interviews of the three alleged victims and their trial testimony.

After C.C. had testified at the trial, the state called Officer Trish Klauser as a witness. She testified that she had conducted separate forensic interviews with LAG and OEG on August 16, 2016 at the Child Advocacy Center. (R77, p. 57). A video was taken of the interview with LAG and it was offered and received in evidence at the trial. (Trial Exhibit 10). (R77, p. 60). A transcript of that interview had been prepared by the District Attorney's office and it was also offered and received in evidence. (Trial Exhibit 4). (R77, pp. 61-62).

After the video had been played, LAG was called as a witness. She said that she was five years old but that she did not know her birthday. (TT, Jan.24, 2017, p.m., R75, p. 12). She testified that Viejo was an old man and that he had been taking her into the basement, pulled down her pants, and licked her in her private parts. (R75, p. 16). She said that he licked her in three places: the area around her heart, the area below her waist, and her butt." (R75, p. 18). She said that he did this after putting her on a table. (R75, p. 19).

LAG admitted that after she had told her mother about this, her mother had helped her with what to say at the trial. (R75, p. 24). She also said that the prosecutor had talked to her about what to say at the trial. (R75, pp. 24-25, 28). And she said that she had talked to her sisters about what she was going to say in court during the trial. (R75, p. 27). She also admitted that when she said that the defendant had taken her to the basement and licked her private parts, she was also saying that because someone had told her to say it. (R75, p. 28). Then she was asked if it was true that the defendant had licked her private parts in the basement and she answered, "Yes." (R75, p. 28).

Officer Kauser testified that she had also conducted a forensic interview with OEG on August 16, 2016. (R77, p. 64). A video recording had also been made of that interview, she said. (R77, p. 64). That video was offered and received in evidence. (Trial Exhibit 12). (R77, p. 65). A transcript of that interview was also prepared by the District Attorney's office and was offered and received in evidence. (Trial Exhibit 5). (R77, p. 65). A copy of the transcript was given to each juror and then the video of the interview was played. (R77, pp. 66, 68).

After the transcripts had been given to the jury, and after the video had been shown, OEG testified. OEG said that she was eight years old. OEG testified that she and her sisters had lived in foster homes for three months before they had been reunited with their mother- which had been a few months before they had all gone to live with the defendant. (R75, pp. 41-42).

OEG testified that she knew that a lie meant that you were not telling the truth and that she was telling the truth at the trial. (R75, p. 31). OEG, however, never testified to anything about the defendant's conduct towards her. She identified the defendant and stated that she was mad at him for the things that she had told the officer about. (R75, p. 44). Nothing further was said on direct or cross-examination about what she had talked to the officer about.

Finally, when the youngest alleged victim, NLG, was about to be called as a witness, defense counsel moved to disallow her from testifying at the trial because she was not a competent witness. (R75, p. 43). After some arguments about that issue, which will be discussed below, the Court had NLG take the witness stand, outside the presence of the jury.

The Court asked her various questions about whether she knew the difference between the truth and a lie. Although she promised to tell the true story, she said that she would not promise not to lie- but then changed her mind and said that she would promise not to lie. (R75, p. 52). Finally, she said that she did not think it was important to tell the truth and that she did not know the difference between something that was real and something that was not real. (R75, p. 52).

Defense counsel again asked that NLG not be allowed to testify. After hearing further arguments, which will be discussed below, the Court held that it would allow her to testify if she could testify about what happened. (TT, Jan. 25, 2017, a.m., R78, p. 11). If she did not say anything, the Court held, there would be no opportunity to cross-examine her and then the video could not be used. (R78, pp. 12, 14). The Court also held that she should testify first and then the video would be played. (R78, p. 15).

NLG was then called to testify before the jury. At that point, the Court asked her if she could tell what a lie was and she said, "No." (R78, p. 18). She said that she understood that she had to tell the truth and promised to do so. (R78, p. 19). She then testified that she was four years old and that she had five cats. (R78, p. 20). She was asked if she had seen Dan before-Dan being Danilo Cardenas, the man who had conducted the forensic interview with her- and she said no. She also said that she had not talked to him about problems she had had or about things happening in the basement with Viejo. (R78, p. 22).

Defense counsel then argued that she would have no meaningful opportunity to crossexamine NLG, and that NLG could not even remember the interview. (R78, p. 27). The Court ruled that it would allow the video to be played and then have the witness called again so that defense counsel could cross-examine her about the video. (R78, p. 27).

At that point, Officer Danilo Cardenas testified that he had conducted a forensic interview of NLG on August 16, 2016 at the Child Protective Center. (R78, p. 32). He said that the interview was recorded and it was offered and received in evidence. (Trial Exhibit 11). (R78, p.11). A transcript of the video was also prepared by the District Attorney's office and it was offered and received in evidence. (Trial Exhibit 6). (R78, pp. 35-36).

Page 15 of 41

He testified that NLG stood during the entire interview and that she was "scared of standoffish or uncomfortable." (R78, p. 37). He said that her vocabulary was very limited and that she did not seem to understand some of the questions that he had asked her. Also, he had to redirect her numerous times to get back on the topic. She was hard to get "focused", he said. (R78, p. 38).

After he had completed his testimony, a copy of the transcripts was given to each juror and the video was played. (R78, p. 38). NLG was not then recalled as a witness to answer any questions about the video.

#### C. The defendant's testimony at the trial.

The defendant testified in his own behalf at the trial. He said that he was then 59 years old, that he had been born in Puerto Rico, that he had lived in Milwaukee for 30 years, that he had only gone to school through the fourth grade, and that he did not know how to read and write. (TT, Jan. 25, 2017, p.m., R79, pp. 4-5). He said that he had done maintenance work for the Hyatt Regency Hotel for eight years and that he suffered from chronic back pain and heart problems for which he took meds. (R79, p. 7).

He said that C.C. and her daughters had lived with him for three months but then left after the daughters had been taken into foster care by the state due to their mother's "habit". (R79, p. 9). Then they all lived with him again from June- August, 2016, in a larger apartment. (R79, p. 10).

He also testified that C.C. was "drugged up" all of the time and that she had asked him for money. He said he refused to give it to her because he knew she would use it to buy drugs. (R78, pp. 14-15). C.C. used to pay him \$200 a month for rent, he said, and she would help him

with his medical appointments and his meds. She also helped him with his banking, he said, but then he learned that she had been taking cash out of his account. (R79, p. 15).

In regard to the allegations made by C.C.'s daughters, he said, he had never taken any of the girls to the basement, and had never touched the privates of any of the girls. (R79, p. 16). He said that he had never licked or put his mouth on any of their butts or any of their bare skin. (R79, p. 16). He noted that DNA tests that had been done had not implicated him in any way with having touched any of the girls. (R79, p. 17).

On cross-examination, he again vehemently denied that he had ever carried any of th girls to the basement, that he had ever lifted any of them onto a table, or that he had ever touched or licked any of them. (R79, pp. 31-32). The defendant also testified that when he heard that a complaint had been filed against him, he immediately turned himself into the police. (R79, p. 12).

As a rebuttal witness, Officer Trisha Klauser testified that samples had been taken from the three alleged victims by Ms.Kanack at the hospital and had been send to the lab. Officer Klauser testified that no "useful results" had been found from any of the samples. (R79, pp. 39-40).

#### **E.** The jury's notes during its deliberations and the verdicts.

After the state had rested its direct case, defense counsel moved to dismiss the charges on the ground that the statements of the witnesses and the videos had been insufficient to prove that the defendant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (R78, p, 57). The state objected. (R78, p. 58). The Court held that this was an issue of credibility and that a prima facie case had been made. It, therefore, denied the motion to dismiss. (R78, p. 58).

After the defendant and Officer Klauser had testified, the Court instructed the jury. Both the prosecutor and defense counsel then gave their closing arguments. After the jury had been sent to the jury room, a conference was held off the record, during which the state moved to amend Count 1 to Sexual Assault of a Child in the first degree (sexual contact of a child less than 12 years old), as opposed to sexual intercourse of a child. That Count did not require a mandatory minimum of 25 years imprisonment. (Supp. App., pp. SA9- SA10).

The next day, while the jury was deliberating, it sent out three notes. The first note asked to see the charging document but the Court told the jurors that the charges had been set forth in the instructions. (R30, p. 1; Supp. App., p. SA11). The second note asked, "Can we see the comments that all 3 girls said to the medical staff during their exam?" The Court replied, "You must rely on your collective memory." (R30, p. 2; Supp. App. p. SA12). Finally, the third note asked, "Can we see the transcripts for OEG's interview?" The Court again responded, "You must rely on your collective memory." (R30, p. 3; Supp. App., p. SA13).

The jury then rendered its verdicts, finding the defendant guilty of all three Counts that the Court had given to the jury for its consideration. (TT, Jan. 26, 2017, R80, p. 63; Supp. App. pp. SP14- SP-16).

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