RECEIVED 06-18-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP2419-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

ANGEL MERCADO,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

The majority opinion's answer to this question, apparently, is that Wis. Stat. § 908.08(7) deems non-hearsay recorded statements of child victims inadmissible. In other words, under the majority opinion's logic, section 908.08(7) allows a circuit court to introduce a child's recorded statement into evidence only if the statement (1) is defined as hearsay, and (2) fits within a hearsay exception. The dissenting opinion reads the majority opinion the same way. (R-App. 138–42.)

The majority opinion's logic does not make sense because the purpose of section 908.08 is to allow the State to introduce a child's recorded statement when it would otherwise be inadmissible hearsay. Snider, 266 Wis. 2d 830, ¶ 12. And "the plain language of WIS. STAT. § 908.08(7) permits the admission of a child's videotaped statement under any applicable hearsay exception." Id. The majority opinion, however, treats subsection (7) as rendering any child victim's recorded statement inadmissible if it is not hearsay. This view conflicts with the Legislature's purpose behind this statute: "to make it easier, not harder, to employ videotaped statements of children in criminal trials and related hearings." Snider, 266 Wis. 2d 830, ¶ 13. As the dissent noted, the majority opinion's view "leads to an absurd result in that an otherwise admissible prior

inconsistent statement—which should now be easier to get into evidence—is now blocked from admissibility by the Majority opinion's incorrect reading of § 908.08." (R-App. 141–42.)

The majority opinion further reasoned that admitting N.L.G.'s video as a prior inconsistent statement would make the requirements of section 908.08 "superfluous." (R-App. 121.) Not so. The Legislature created section 908.08(7) to allow a court to admit a child's recorded statement if any hearsay exception applies, even if the requirements of section 908.08(2) and (3) are not met. Snider, 266 Wis. 2d 830, ¶ 12. Under the majority opinion's logic, though, meeting section 908.08's requirements is the only avenue for admitting a child's recorded statement at trial. Relying on any other hearsay exception, according to the majority opinion's reasoning, would make section 908.08 superfluous. That reasoning effectively writes subsection (7) out of the statute. And nothing about subsection (7) makes the rest of the statute superfluous. Section 908.08 is a self-contained hearsay exception that allows a court to admit a child's recorded statement if subsections (2) and (3) are met, "even when no other hearsay exception applies." *Id.* ¶ 13. Relying on any single hearsay exception—including section 908.08 does not make other hearsay exceptions superfluous. The majority opinion's logic makes all hearsay exceptions besides section 908.08 superfluous in the context of a child's recorded statement.

The court of appeals further reasoned that N.L.G.'s video was not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement because the circuit court erroneously put N.L.G. on the witness stand *before* determining whether her video satisfied section 908.08(3)(c) and *before* playing the video for the jury. (R-App. 121–22.) The State has already explained why a circuit court may rely on a colloquy during trial to determine

Case 2018AP002419 State's WSC Brief-in-Chief Filed 06-18-2020 Page 40 of 48

whether a video statement satisfies section 908.08(3)(c). The State will explain next why the circuit court permissibly allowed the State to call N.L.G. to testify before playing her video for the jury.

For now, the State notes that the majority opinion's timing rationale creates a troubling Catch-22: a circuit court must preclude a child from testifying unless it first plays the child's inadmissible video. The majority opinion determined that N.L.G.'s video was not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement "because the statement of N.L.G. upon which that argument is based—that she did not remember the forensic interview—was only given as a result of the court erroneously allowing N.L.G. to be questioned prior to the showing of her video." (R-App. 122.) That reasoning does not make sense because the majority opinion had already concluded that N.L.G.'s video was inadmissible under section 908.08(3)(c) and the residual hearsay exception. (R-App. 116–18.) So, under the majority opinion's logic, the circuit court should not have played N.L.G.'s inadmissible video for the jury, although it should have played her video before allowing her to testify. Taken to its logical conclusion, this reasoning would altogether prohibit N.L.G. from testifying.

The law does not mandate this absurd result. If a child testifies consistently with her inadmissible video statement, the video might remain inadmissible—but the child's testimony could support a conviction. And, if a child's testimony conflicts with her otherwise inadmissible video statement, the video would become admissible as a prior inconsistent statement. Because prior inconsistent statements are substantive evidence, the video could support a conviction. Under the majority opinion's flawed logic, however, a jury could not hear a child's testimony or video statement if the video is inadmissible.

In sum, N.L.G.'s recorded statement was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement.

D. Wisconsin Stat. § 908.08(5)(a) does not prohibit a party from calling its child witness to give live testimony before playing the child's video for the jury.

The circuit court here properly allowed the State to call N.L.G. to briefly testify before playing her interview video for the jury. Dictum in State v. James, 2005 WI App 188, 285 Wis. 2d 783, 703 N.W.2d 727, suggests that this order of presentation was improper under Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a). This Court should withdraw that language from James.

> 1. A circuit court may allow a party to call its child witness before playing the child's video, and it must allow the party to call its child after the video.

The relevant statutory language provides: "If the court or hearing examiner admits a recorded statement under this section, the party who has offered the statement into evidence may nonetheless call the child to testify immediately after the statement is shown to the trier of fact." Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a) (emphasis added). The statue continues, "if that party does not call the child, the court or hearing examiner, upon request by any other party, shall order that the child be produced immediately following the showing of the statement to the trier of fact for crossexamination." Id.

This language says nothing about whether a party may call its child witness to testify before playing the child's recorded statement for the jury. It just establishes the procedure for calling the child to testify after the video is played. "[A] matter not covered is to be treated as not covered." State ex rel. Lopez-Quintero v. Dittmann, 2019 WI 58, ¶ 18, 387 Wis. 2d 50, 928 N.W.2d 480 (citation omitted).

This statute, though, prohibits a circuit court from forcing a party to call its child witness before playing the child's video. In James, the State wanted to call two child witnesses to testify after their video statements were played for the jury, but the circuit court required them to testify before their videos were played. James, 285 Wis. 2d 783, $\P\P$ 1, 4. The appellate court rightly determined that "the trial court exceeded its discretion in refusing to obey" section 908.08, and it correctly "reverse[d] and remand[ed] with directions to admit the videotape evidence pursuant to the statutorily prescribed procedures." *Id.* ¶ 25.

The circuit court in James had cited Wis. Stat. §§ 906.11 (which gives circuit courts control over the mode and order of presenting evidence) and 904.03 (which allows circuit courts to exclude relevant evidence if certain concerns substantially outweigh its probative value) to support its ruling. James, 285 Wis. 2d 783, ¶ 12. The court of appeals rejected that rationale and held that "§ 908.08, which deals specifically with the admissibility and presentation of videotaped statements by child witnesses, controls over §§ 904.03 and 906.11, more general statutes regarding the court's authority to control the admission, order, and presentation of evidence." *Id.* ¶ 23.

That holding is correct. Again, section 908.08 states that "the party who has offered the [child's recorded] statement into evidence may nonetheless call the child to testify immediately after the statement is shown to the trier of fact." Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a) (emphasis added). This plain language entitles the State to call its child witness to testify after the child's recorded statement is played for the Case 2018AP002419 State's WSC Brief-in-Chief Filed 06-18-2020 Page 43 of 48

jury. The circuit court in *James* was wrong to think otherwise.

2. This Court should withdraw dicta in

The court of appeals in James went too far by writing broad dicta. "Dicta is a statement or language expressed in a court's opinion which extends beyond the facts in the case and is broader than necessary and not essential to the determination of the issues before it." State v. Sartin, 200 Wis. 2d 47, 60 n.7, 546 N.W.2d 449 (1996). As noted above, the State in James wanted to call two child witnesses to testify after their video statements were played for the jury, but the circuit court required them to testify before their videos were played. James, 285 Wis. 2d 783, ¶¶ 1, 4. So, on the State's interlocutory appeal, the issue was whether a circuit court may require a child witness to testify before the video is played, over the objection of the party calling the witness. The issue was not whether a court may allow a party to call its child witness before playing the child's video.

Yet the James court's broad dicta decided this latter issue in the negative, even though it was not the issue presented. The appellate court in James stated that section 908.08(5)(a) "deprives the [circuit] court of the right to control the order in which this evidence is to be taken" and "requires the videotape to precede direct and cross-examination." James, 285 Wis. 2d 783, ¶¶ 9, 20. That broad language seemingly prohibits a circuit court from allowing a party to call its child witness before playing the child's video, even when the party wishes to use this order. That factual scenario was absent in James but is present here. That language in James is thus dicta because it extended beyond the facts of that case and was broader than necessary to resolve the issue on appeal.

In dicta, the *James* court effectively added language to the statute. A court, however, "should not read into [a] statute language that the legislature did not put in." $State\ v$. Simmelink, 2014 WI App 102, ¶ 11, 357 Wis. 2d 430, 855 N.W.2d 437 (citation omitted). A court thus will not read "requirements," id., or "limitation[s]" into a statute, $State\ v$. Kozel, 2017 WI 3, ¶ 39, 373 Wis. 2d 1, 889 N.W.2d 423 (citation omitted). Despite those established canons of statutory interpretation, the James court limited a party's ability to call its child witness to testify before playing the child's recorded statement for the jury, instead requiring the video to always precede the child's live testimony.

Wisconsin Stat. § 906.11 controls here and permits a circuit court to allow a child's direct examination to precede his or her video statement. Section 908.08(5)(a) does not control in this situation because it says nothing about whether a party may call its child witness to testify before playing the video statement, or whether a circuit court may allow a party to do so. Section 908.08(5)(a) is the more specific—and thus controlling—statute when a party wishes to play a child's video statement before calling the child to testify. Under section 908.08(5)(a), a party is entitled but not required to play the child's video first.

If this Court decides not to withdraw language in James, it should hold that section 908.08(5)(a) does not apply where, as here, a video is admissible on some ground besides section 908.08. "[I]f a child's videotape statement is admissible under one of the hearsay exceptions set forth in Wis. Stat. § 908.03, the requirements listed in the preceding subsections of § 908.08 are inapplicable." Snider, 266 Wis. 2d 830, ¶ 12. So, because N.L.G.'s video was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement and under the residual hearsay exception, the James court's view of section 908.08(5)(a)'s requirements is inapplicable. The statute's plain language

supports this view. The procedures in subsection (5)(a) apply "[i]f the court or hearing examiner admits a recorded statement under this section." Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a). When, as here, a video is admitted under the residual hearsay exception or as a prior inconsistent statement, it is not admitted "under this section."

In sum, this Court should hold that section 908.08(5)(a) does not prohibit a party from calling its child witness to give live testimony before playing the child's video for the jury. When a party wants to present its child witness's live testimony before playing his or her video, Wis. Stat. § 906.11 authorizes the circuit court to allow this order. This Court should withdraw any language in James that is inconsistent with this holding. This Court at least should clarify that James's view of section 908.08(5)(a) is inapplicable when a video is admissible on some ground besides section 908.08.

> 3. The circuit court properly allowed the youngest victim to testify before playing her forensic-interview video for the jury.

Here, the circuit court did not violate section 908.08(5)(a) by allowing N.L.G. to testify before it played her interview video for the jury. Unlike in James, the circuit court here did not force the State over objection to call one of its witnesses to give live testimony before playing her video for the jury.

The court of appeals determined that the circuit court erred by allowing N.L.G. to testify before it played her interview video for the jury. (R-App. 121–22.) This determination, in turn, supported the court of appeals' conclusion that the circuit court should not have treated N.L.G.'s video statement as a prior inconsistent statement.

(R-App. 121–22.) It reasoned that James had interpreted Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a) to "unambiguously require the videotape to *precede* direct and cross-examination." (R-App. 121 (quoting James, 285 Wis. 2d 783, ¶ 9 (alteration in original)).) As just explained, this Court should withdraw that dicta from James and hold that the circuit court here did not violate section 908.08(5)(a).

If the circuit court's order of presentation was error, it was harmless. Again, procedural errors are harmless and thus do not warrant relief if "[t]he jury had before it the same information it would have had if the procedural errors had not occurred." *Vanmanivong*, 261 Wis. 2d 202, ¶ 49. Had the circuit court played N.L.G.'s video before having her testify, the jury still would have seen her video. Playing the video first would have been proper because it was admissible under the residual hearsay exception and section 908.08(2) and (3). And if her video was not admissible under those rationales, the State would have needed to call her to testify before her video could be played. In that scenario, her video was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement. Either way, the jury was going to hear her video statement regardless of its timing at trial. The order of presenting N.L.G.'s video and live testimony to the jury did not affect the verdict.

* * *

The three victims' videos were admissible at Mercado's trial. N.L.G.'s video was admissible for three separate reasons: it satisfied Wis. Stat. § 908.08(2) and (3), it fit within the residual hearsay exception, and it was a prior inconsistent statement. The other two victims' videos were admissible for two independent reasons: their videos fit within the residual hearsay exception, and their videos satisfied section 908.08(2) but Mercado did not argue on appeal that their statements failed section 908.08(3). The

circuit court did not violate section 908.08(5)(a) by allowing the State to call N.L.G. to testify before playing her video for the jury. And the circuit court's alleged violations of section 908.08(2)(b) and (5)(a) were harmless.

CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the court of appeals' decision and remand for that court to address Mercado's unresolved arguments.